IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC05-1512

JAMES M. DAILEY, Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ERIC C. PINKARD ASSISTANT CCRC-MIDDLE FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0651443 OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE SUITE 210 TAMPA, FL 33609-1004 (813) 740-3544 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Statement of the Case

Mr. Dailey was found guilty of Murder in the First Degree and sentenced to death August 7, 1987. The trial was held in the Sixth Judicial Circuit before the Honorable Thomas E. Penick, Jr., in Pinellas County, Florida.

This Court affirmed Mr. Dailey's conviction but remanded the case for resentencing. *Dailey v. State*, 594 So.2d 254 (Fla. 1991). Mr. Dailey was again sentenced to death and this Court affirmed the new sentence. *Dailey v. State*, 659 So.2d 246, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S241 (Fla. 1995), *cert. denied*, 516 U.S. 1095 (1996).

Mr. Dailey filed his initial Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence With Special Request for Leave to Amend on April 1, 1997. On November 12, 1999, Mr. Dailey filed his Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence, and the State responded pursuant to an order to show cause.

At the *Huff* hearing, the Court ruled that Mr. Dailey was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on grounds I, II, III, IV, V, VI, and VII, reserving the right to address the remaining eight claims if, during the evidentiary hearing on the first seven claims, any information should be presented that would warrant further inquiry.

Subsequently, at the request of the Chief Judge of the Sixth Judicial Circuit, this Court assigned Circuit Judge Jack Espinosa, Jr., from Hillsborough County, to preside over the post-conviction proceeding because Mr. Dailey's defense attorney at trial had become a judge, creating a conflict of interest with the judges of the Sixth Judicial Circuit.

On November 19, 2001, a new *Huff* hearing was held before Judge Espinosa, who ordered an evidentiary hearing on the grounds originally set for hearing and adding grounds VIII and XV, and denying the remaining claims.

Evidentiary hearings were held on March 19, 2003, November 7, 2003, December 11, 2003, June 29, 2004, and November 5, 2004. The circuit court judge denied all claims which had been set for hearing, in the order now on appeal to this Court.

Statement of the Facts¹

In order for this Court to properly assess whether Mr. Dailey is entitled to relief on his 3.850 claims, it is necessary to evaluate the quality of the evidence introduced by the state at Mr. Dailey's trial. Only then can this Court conduct a denovo review of the testimony and documentary evidence introduced at the evidentiary hearings to determine whether the lower court erred in denying Mr. Dailey's 3.850 motion, with amendments.

The Facts Introduced at Mr. Dailey's Trial:

On May 6, 1985, at approximately 8:30 a.m., the body of Shelley Boggio was discovered in an inter coastal waterway in the Indian Rocks Beach area. (1987 ROA 759-66). Members of the Indian Rocks Beach Police Department and then the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office were called to the scene. Blue jeans, black panties, two woman's shirts, a tank top, and jewelry(earrings and a ring) were taken into evidence. (1987 ROA 771) A knife sheath was later found in the waterway by divers. (1987 ROA 811) (This Court in the first direct appeal, 594 So.2d at 257, determined the knife sheath should not have been admitted into evidence as there was an insufficient link between the sheath and the homicide).

¹ The record from the prior proceedings is referenced throughout this brief. The prior proceedings were all appealed to this Court, and counsel understands that the records from those prior proceedings remain available to this Court. The defendant respectfully urges the Court to take judicial notice of its own records to the extent the prior records below are necessary to support any claim herein.

Medical Examiner Joan Wood was also called to the scene on May 6, 1985. (1987 ROA 846). She testified at trial that the woman had not been dead for 12 hours and placed the range of the time of death between 1:30 A.m. and 3:30 a.m. (1987 ROA 849) The cause of death was choking, stabbing, cutting, and ultimately drowning. (1987 ROA 851). No sperm were located in the vaginal area. (1987 ROA 871). She stated there was vomit found at the scene which did not match Shelley Boggio's stomach content. (ROA. 879). No trauma was indicated in the vaginal area. (1987 ROA 884). Ms. Wood could not state whether there was one or two persons involved in the homicide. Based on the physical evidence, the homicide could have been committed by one person. (1987 ROA 890)

Crime scene technician Deborah Steeger found no hairs inconsistent with the victims. (1987 ROA 932). Mary Cortiz, a serologist, received anal swabs, vaginal swabs, oral swabs, and vaginal washing's and all were negative for the presence of semen. (1987 ROA 942) None of the clothing evidence from the scene had any physical evidence linking anyone to the homicide.

As the above citations from the record establish, there was no physical evidence at the scene to link James Dailey to the murder of Shelley Boggio. No hair, no blood, no semen, no DNA, no footprints, no murder weapon, and no fingerprints. Because there was no physical evidence linking Mr. Dailey to the homicide, the State had to rely upon eyewitness testimony as to Shelley Boggio's whereabouts the day and evening before the homicide in order to establish Mr.

Dailey's presence with the victim and opportunity to commit the homicide. As will be demonstrated below, a careful review of the testimony of the state's witnesses (free from the highly inaccurate arguments of the state in closing), reveals the state failed to do so.

Three people testified at Mr. Dailey's trial concerning the whereabouts of Shelley Boggio on May 5, 1985, the day prior to the discovery of the body. Those witnesses were Stacey Boggio, Oza Shaw, and Gayle Bailey. Jack Pearcy was called as a witness but asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege.

STACEY BOGGIO:

Stacey Boggio testified that she was with her sister, Shelley Boggio, on May 5, 1985. She and Shelley went to the beach with Stephanie Forsythe and returned home around 3:00 P.m. (1987 ROA 897). About suppertime, the three of them were hitchhiking near the Twisted Tree when they were picked up by a white Toyota car driven by Jack Pearcy. (1987 ROA 898). Also in the car were Oza Shaw and James Dailey. (1987 ROA 899). The six of them (Jack Pearcy, Oza Shaw, James Dailey, Shelley Bogio, Stacey Boggio, and Stephanie Forsyth) went to the Driftwood Bar and the Quarterback. The girls could not get in because they had no ID. (1987 ROA 900). All six of them went to Jack Pearcy's house around 7:00 p.m. (1987 ROA 901). Gayle Bailey (Jack Pearcy's girlfriend) was at the house. They smoked some pot and watched an Alfred Hitchcock movie for 20 minutes. (1987 ROA 901). Around 7:30 P.m. Jack Pearcy, Gayle Bailey, James

Dailey, Stephanie Forsyth, Stacey Boggio and Shelley Boggio left the house, leaving Oza Shaw behind. (1987 ROA 901). They left in Jack Pearcy's white Toyota car and they dropped Stephanie Forsyth and Stacey Boggio off at Stephanie Forsyth's house. Stacey did not see Shelley Boggio again after being dropped of at Stephanie's house.

GAYLE BAILEY:

Gayle Bailey testified that in May of 1985 she lived in a house in Seminole with Jack Pearcy (her boyfriend), and Jack Pearcy. (1987 ROA 952). Oza Shaw (a friend of Jack Pearcy) was visiting from Kansas. (1987 ROA 953). Jack pearcy and Gayle Bailey had their own bedroom. James Dailey had his own bedroom. Oza Shaw slept on the couch during his visit. (1987 ROA 953). On the morning of May 5, 1985, Jack Pearcy, Gayle bailey and Oza Shaw went to the flea market, came back and picked up James Dailey, and they all went to the beach. They all returned to the house in Seminole, where Gayle cooked supper. After eating, Jack Pearcy, Oza Shaw, and James Dailey left the residence. They were gone a few hours and then returned with three woman (Shelley Boggio, Stacey Boggio, Stehpanie Forsythe). Gayle Bailey loaned Shelley Boggio her ID. Then Jack Pearcy, Gayle Bailey, Shelley Boggio, Stephanie Forsythe and James Dailey left and dropped off Stephanie Forsythe and Stacey Boggio at Stephanie Forsythe's house. Oza Shaw stayed behind. (R. 953-957) Gayle Bailey further testified that after dropping Stacey Boggio and Stephanie Forsythe off at Stephanie's house, Jack Pearcy,

Gayle Bailey, Shelley Boggio, and James Dailey all went to Jerry's Rock Disco for about one hour. Shelley Boggio and Jack Pearcy danced together. (1987 ROA 957). After Jerry's Rock Disco, Jack Pearcy, Gayle bailey, Shelley Boggio, and James Dailey returned to the house in Seminole. (R. 958). Gayle bailey went to the bathroom, and when she came out they were gone, except Oza Shaw stayed on the couch. (R. 958) She did not see who got in the car at that time, but could only state they were gone. She stated she did not know whether James Dailey was in his bedroom when she came out of the bathroom. (1987 ROA 972) Most importantly,

Gayle Bailey did not testify that she saw James Dailey leave at that time with

Jack Pearcy and Shelley Boggio. (The prosecutor later inaccurately argued in

closing that Bailey saw James Dailey leave at that time). However, she did offer some confusing testimony as to whether Jack Pearcy returned to the house later:

Q. Do you know if Jack came back one other time? A. No, I don't know that for a fact.

Q. You didn't see that?A. No sir, Jack and James came back once, they left together and then they came back again.A. I said, are you coming back home and staying or what? Yes, I am coming back home, and then they were gone, both of them together, and then they came back.

Q. Did you see James Dailey come back a time before he eventually show up?A. He was in the back bedroom.

Q. When was this?

A. I don't know when it was.

Q. Next time? A. Then they were gone and they both went back together again.

(1987 ROA 978, 982)

Gayle Bailey went on to testify that at approximately 2:00 a.m. to 3:00 a.m., Jack Pearcy and James Dailey returned to the residence in Seminole. (1987 ROA 959). She stated that Jack Pearcy was wearing the same clothes she had seen him in earlier, and James Dailey had on only jeans that were wet to the butt and he was carrying a bundle. (1987 ROA 960).

The next morning, Gayle Bailey went to the doctor's office in Jack Pearcy's white Toyota car. (1987 ROA 962) She found an earring in the car. (R. 962). Later that morning, Jack Pearcy, James Dailey, and Oza Shaw left to do laundry, and returned after a few hours. Upon there return everyone was packing their clothes and they drove down to Miami and checked into a hotel. James Dailey left the next day. (1987 ROA 962).

OZA SHAW:

Oza Shaw testified that he had known James Dailey for one month, and Jack Pearcy for five years. (1987 ROA 994). He was staying as a guest in the residence in Seminole with Jack Pearcy, Gayle Bailey, and James Dailey. (1987 ROA 995). Jack Pearcy and Gayle Bailey shared a bedroom, James Dailey had his own bedroom, and Oza Shaw slept on the couch.

Oza Shaw further testified that on May 5, 1985, at about three, four, or five p.m., he went riding with Jack Pearcy and James Dailey and they picked up three girls who were hitchhiking. After they drove around drinking they went back to the house in Seminole. The three girls then left with Jack Pearcy, Gayle Bailey, and James Dailey. Oza Shaw laid on the couch and passed out. When he woke up **Jack Pearcy** was leaving with the girl. He asked **Pearcy** for a ride to the telephone. He got in the car with **Jack Pearcy** and the girl and they took him to the telephone and dropped him off. He stated he was on the phone for about one hour. (It is now known through phone record introduced at the evidentiary hearing that Mr. Shaw placed one call at 10:16 p.m. on May 5, 1985, lasting 13 minutes, a second call at 12:15 a.m. lasting 26 minutes, and that he also called his girlfriend, Betty Mingis). Mr. Shaw was specifically questioned about who was in the car during the ride to the telephone.

Q. When you stated that the girl, Shelley, and <u>Jack</u> left the house, where was James Dailey?
A. When they gave me a ride to the phone?
Q. Right.
A. <u>I didn't see him</u>.

Q. Do you know where the girl and <u>**Pearcy**</u> were going when they left the house to give you a ride home? A. No, I didn't.

Q. Do you know if they went back to the house at that time? A. No, I don't.

ROA 999 (emphasis added)

Oza Shaw then testified that he was later awakened while sleeping on the couch and saw Jack Pearcy and James Dailey return to the house. James Dailey's pants were wet. (1987 ROA 998). The next day **Jack Pearcy** told Oza Shaw they were going for a ride for a couple of days, and to gather his clothes. Before they left, they did the laundry, and Oza Shaw washed the car. (R. 1000). They (Jack Pearcy, Gayle Bailey, Oza Shaw, and James Dailey) then went down to Miami to a hotel. The next day, James Dailey left. (1987 ROA 1001).

STATE'S CIRCUMSTANTIAL CASE:

The testimony of Oza Shaw, Gayle Bailey, and Stacey Boggio left the State with a purely circumstantial case. No physical evidence put James Dailey at the scene at the time of the murder, which was estimated by the Medical Examiner to be between 1:30 and 3:30 a.m. No DNA evidence, no fingerprint evidence, no blood evidence, no hair evidence, and no murder weapon. The State's sole evidence against James Dailey was that he had returned in the early morning hours with Jack Pearcy and his pants were wet.

However, there was a huge hole in the State's case; no one testified that James Dailey left with Shelley Boggio and Jack Pearcy when they left to drop Oza Shaw off at the telephone. Gayle Bailey testified that when she, along with Jack

Pearcy, Shelley Boggio, and James Dailey, returned from Jerry's Disco she went to the bathroom and everyone was gone except Oza Shaw. She did not see who got in the car to leave and she specifically testified she didn't know whether James Dailey was in his bedroom at that time. Furthermore, Oza Shaw specifically testified that when he awakened from the couch, he saw <u>Jack Pearcy</u> leaving with the girl, and he got a ride to the telephone with <u>Jack Pearcy</u> and Shelley Boggio <u>and James Dailey was not in the car</u>. Therefore, <u>Jack Pearcy</u> was alone with Shelley Boggio, without Mr. Dailey being present, and he had ample opportunity to commit the homicide <u>alone</u> without any participation at all from James Dailey.

Since it uncontroverted that James Dailey was not with Jack Pearcy and Shelley Boggio when they dropped Oza Shaw off to use the phone, there is really no other place he could have been except in his room back at the residence (since, if he was in the living room or kitchen he would have been seen by Gayle Bailey). The State could not dispute this reasonable hypothesis of innocence.

It has long been the law in the State of Florida that when the State relies upon purely circumstantial evidence to convict an accused, it has always been required that such evidence must not only be consistent with the defendant's guilt but it must also be inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence. This principal of law was ably stated by the Florida Supreme Court as early as 1956 in *Davis v. State*, 90 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1956):

Evidence which produces nothing stronger than a suspicion, even though it would tend to justify the

suspicion that the defendant committed the crime, it is not sufficient to sustain conviction. It is the actual exclusion of the hypothesis of innocence which clothes circumstantial evidence with the force sufficient to convict. Circumstantial evidence which leaves uncertain several hypothesis, any one of which may be sound and some of which may be entirely consistent with innocense, is not adequate to sustain a verdict of guilty. Even though the circumstantial evidence is sufficient to suggest a probability of guilt, it is not thereby adequate to support a conviction if it is likewise consistent with a reasonable hypothesis of innocense. So it is in the instant case we find implicit in the circumstantial evidence offered for conviction a possibility of innocense which is equally as strong as the possibility of guilt.

90 So.2d at 631. See also Head v. State, 62 So.2d 41 (Fla. 1952); Mayo v. State,
71 So.2d 41 (Fla. 1954); Luscomb v. State, 660 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1995); State v.
Law, 559 So.2d 187 (Fla. 1989); McArthur v. State, 351 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1977);
Jaramillo v. State, 417 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1982).

It is clear that based upon the laws of the State of Florida at the time of Mr. Dailey's conviction, that based only on the testimony of the witnesses as to Shelley Boggio's whereabouts on May 5, 1985, and the lack of any physical evidence whatsoever linking James Dailey to the homicide, the State could not obtain a conviction against Mr. Dailey without more evidence. It is apparent that leading up to Mr. Dailey's trial the State recognized the deficiencies in their case and grew desperate to find evidence that would take Mr. Dailey's case out of one based upon circumstantial evidence. To avoid losing the case to a judgment of acquittal, the State sent Detective Halliday to "troll for snitches" at the Pinellas County Jail to try and find an inmate to testify against James Dailey. As James Dailey's trial approached, Detective Halliday cleaned out the pod at the Pinellas County jail in a desperate attempt to find a snitch to testify against Mr. Dailey. Ultimately, the State had to rely upon the most notorious snitch in the history of Pinellas County, Paul Skalnik, to get by a Judgment of Acquittal, which would have been granted based on the extremely weak circumstantial evidence case the state had developed, in order to obtain a murder conviction against James Dailey. This was a dubious strategy which, as will be demonstrated later in this argument, blew up in the State's face when Mr. Skalnik turned on the State shortly after Mr. Dailey's trial and was proven to be an absolute liar devoid of an ounce of credibility during the evidentiary hearing .

THE THREE SNITCHES:

(A) Snitch number one : The incredible Paul Skalnik

The evidence at Mr. Dailey's establishes that Paul Skalnik became involved in the Boggio murder case in early 1987 when he approached Detective Halliday about information he allegedly got from <u>Jack Pearcy</u> while in the Pinellas County Jail. (1987 ROA 1190). Only the fact that Mr. Pearcy's trial was over prevented Mr. Skalnik from testifying against him. Skalnik's alleged conversation with

Pearcy in early 1987 does establish that he had knowledge of information about the Boggio murder before he ever allegedly spoke with James Dailey.

Skalnik went on to "testify" that he had pending charges of violation of parole and two counts of grand theft, maximum penalty of 20 years.(the facts and circumstances of his recent and pending criminal charges were not brought before the jury on cross-examination, an error noted by this Court). (1987 ROA 1107). Skalnik was specifically asked about whether he had been offered anything in exchange for his testimony:

> Q. And has anyone from the Pinellas County Jail offered you anything or a break on your sentence in order to induce you to testify here today? A. No, Ma'am, they have not.

> Q. Has anyone from law enforcement at all offered you -- that includes the State Attorney's Office - - anything to induce you to testify here today? A. No ma'am, they have not.

(R. 1108) (as will be demonstrated later, these are answers Mr. Skalnik would later vigorously change in sworn motions to the court and in and least one letter to the Governor of the State of Florida).

Skalnik also "testified" concerning whether he had read any newspaper

articles or television reports of the charges pending against Pearcy and Dailey:

Q. Prior to your meeting or after you met Dailey and Pearcy, did you ever read any newspaper articles or see anything on t.v. about the charges pending against them? A. No ma'am. I don't get a newspaper and the situation I'm in, I seldom, if ever, get to see a t.v. set.

(R. 1110).

Skalnik initially "testified" that he had been placed in isolation because of testifying and because he was a former police officer. (1987 ROA 1109). He then stated later in his testimony that most of the individuals in upper G (the unit where he and Dailey were housed) knew him as a "private investigator" working with criminal lawyers. He told other inmates he was embezzling and was caught out of the country and had to be placed in isolation due to an escape risk. (1987 ROA 1114).

Skalnik went on to "testify" about the conversations he said he had with James Dailey. He stated the first conversation took place the last part of April, or the first part of May. He claimed that James Dailey told him "Pearcy had done more than he said," "he had stabbed her too". (1987 ROA 1114). The second conversation happened early in the morning, three, four, five days later. (1987 ROA 1114). Skalnik then "testified" that Dailey stood at the doorway to his cell and stated that he and Pearcy had been together in a car, it involved a young teen aged girl, and he did not know her age. That Mr. Pearcy had actually held the girl under. The young girl kept staring at him, screaming and would not die. He stabbed her and threw the knife away. (1987 ROA 1114).

Skalnik's "testimony" became the centerpiece of the State's case. The emphasis on Skalnik started in opening statement:

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