IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES M. DAILEY,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC05-1512 L.T. No. CR 85-07084-CFANO-D

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(PCR V2/188; see also PCR V2/143) (e.s.)

Fourth, as noted above, the Circuit Court specifically found that the prosecutor's comments "appear to be nothing more

than an attempt by the State to argue that its evidentiary burden was met." (PCR V2/188; See also, PCR V2/143). In this case, the prosecutor's presumption-of-innocence comment was squarely invited by defense counsel's preceding comments. The prosecutor's comment was essentially the same as defense counsel's comment in the initial closing argument that the presumption of innocence stays with the defendant "unless each and everyone of you . . . hear evidence that should convince you beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Dailey is not entitled to that presumption." (R V10/1229) Defense counsel argued that Dailey was presumed innocent, at the start of trial and was still innocent "at this point, ... because the State has not proven the case to you by credible evidence beyond and to the exclusion of a reasonable doubt." (R V10/1251) The allegation that the prosecutor misstated the presumption of innocence during closing argument of the guilt phase was not raised at trial and on direct appeal undoubtedly because, in context, it is apparent that the prosecutor's argument was based on the State's theory that the evidence indeed had shown the elements of the charged offense and that the Defendant's right to the presumption of innocence terminated at the close of all the evidence. (R V10/1262) The prosecutor's comment in the responsive closing argument was invited by the initial closing

of the defense. See, <u>Caballero v. State</u>, 851 So. 2d 655, 660 (Fla. 2003), <u>Goodwin v. State</u>, 751 So. 2d 537, 544, n.8 (Fla. 1999).

Fifth, the trial court's instruction to the jury thereafter included that the presumption of innocence stayed with the Defendant "through each stage of the trial until it's been overcome by the evidence to the exclusion of and beyond a reasonable doubt". (R V10/1306-1307) Accordingly, any alleged error would be harmless and clearly was cured by the trial court's instructions to the jury. See, Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1010 (Fla. 1994); See also, McCrae v. State, 510 So. 2d 874, 878 (Fla. 1987) (stating that "no ineffectiveness is standard instructions shown because the general on the presumption of innocence and the state's burden of proof were sufficient to apprise the jury of the applicable principles")

Sixth, Dailey's reliance on the pre-AEDPA federal habeas case of <u>Mahorney v. Wallman</u>, 917 F.2d 469 (10th Cir. 1990) is misplaced. (Initial Brief at 51-53). In <u>Mahorney</u>, the state prosecutor made specific statements negating the presumption of innocence during both voir dire and closing argument. Mahorney was convicted of first degree rape in state court, and, on federal habeas review, the federal appellate court concluded that a new trial was warranted because (1) defense counsel

vigorously objected to the prosecutor's remarks and moved for a mistrial, but his motion was denied and his objections were categorically overruled in the presence of the jury; (2) the trial court did not cure or minimize the problem through any admonishment or special instruction and the judge's refusal twice to correct the prosecutor's misstatements when publicly requested to do so gave such statements some appearance of judicial approval; (3) the trial court's overall charge on the presumption of innocence and burden of proof was not sufficiently specific to preserve that presumption in light of prosecutor's specific statement that it the had been extinguished; (4) the state did not point to any misstatements by defense counsel that might implicate the "invited response" doctrine, and (5) the error was not harmless because Mahorney never denied the act of sexual intercourse, but consistently defended on the basis of consent and the jury was presented with two relatively credible, competing stories by the complaining witness and the accused, neither of which was conclusively confirmed or disproportionately discredited.

The IAC/improper vouching claim

Dailey also raises the failure of counsel to object to the prosecutor's closing argument as allegedly improperly vouching for the credibility of Paul Skalnik. In his post-conviction

claim below, Dailey asserted that the prosecutor's comment allegedly bolstered the testimony of the three jailhouse witnesses, Skalnik, Leitner and DeJesus, by reminding the jury of Detective Halliday's experience and stating, "[I]f these men are cons, they would not con Detective Halliday." (R V10/1283)

Detective Halliday's statements about these witnesses was the subject of direct appeal and found to be harmless error. Dailey I, 594 So. 2d at 256 n. 2. In this case, as this Court held in Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1046 (Fla. 2003), because the defendant "could not show the comments were fundamental error on direct appeal, he likewise cannot show that trial counsel's failure to object to the comments resulted in prejudice sufficient to undermine the outcome of the case under the prejudice prong of the Strickland test."

Furthermore, the prosecutor's comment at trial was in the context of rebutting the defense closing argument attacking the motives of the three witnesses, but not what they had said. (R V10/1276-1283) Defense argued in the initial closing that the State bought their testimony. (R V10/1246-1247, 1249) Therefore, the prosecutor responded to the claim that "Mr. Denhardt accused the State of buying their testimony." (R V10/1280) Although argued as affecting the cumulative effect (Initial Brief at 62), no testimony was presented at the

evidentiary hearing concerning Leitner or DeJesus, and although testimony was presented concerning Paul Skalnik, Dailey's trial attorneys, Mr. Andringa and Mr. Denhardt, were not asked at the post-conviction evidentiary hearing about the failure to object to this comment at trial. Ultimately, Dailey's IAC claim is meritless because trial counsel were not required to make a futile objection to the legally permitted rehabilitation of the witnesses. See Caballero v. State, 851 So. 2d 655, 660 (Fla. 2003) (addressing invited response doctrine). Dailey has not shown any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice under Strickland. Furthermore, all but one of the defendant's "long line" of "improper vouching" cases, cited at pages 54-55 of Dailey's initial brief, are direct appeal cases, and they actually reinforce the principle that Dailey's claims of alleged improper prosecutorial comment are procedurally barred.

The single post-conviction IAC/"improper vouching" case cited by Dailey, <u>Rhue v. State</u>, 693 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), is readily distinguishable. In <u>Rhue</u>, a capital sexual battery case involving a child victim, defense counsel failed to object to repeated testimony that vouched for the credibility of the child. This testimony was presented from the child victim's

mother, his grandmother, his great-grandmother⁷ and from Dr. Crum, a psychologist who examined the child. Dr. Crum testified that he had previously assessed children whom he found to be not credible. In those cases, Dr. Crum advised the State Attorney's Office that the child was not credible, but not in this case. Trial counsel did not object to this testimony. Furthermore, during closing arguments, the prosecutor emphasized Dr. Crum's expert opinion that "he believed the child was telling the truth. That's what his job is. He went to all those schools. He has all that experience with working with children; that's his job." Rhue, 693 So. 2d at 568. In Rhue, trial counsel testified at the post-conviction hearing that there was no tactical reason to refrain from objecting to the trial testimony regarding the child victim's credibility. In addition, the appellate court's review of the record revealed nothing that would support such a tactical decision. Consequently, Rhue "overcame the presumption that trial counsel's failure to object

⁷ "The child's mother testified that, after the child related the incident to her, she asked him if it really happened and she looked him right in the face "because when you look him in the face you can tell." She also testified that the child does not make up stories and then stick with them. The child's grandmother testified that the child may tell lies about small things, such as whether he has eaten all his food, "but never would he lie. We try to stress to him to tell the truth." And the child's great-grandmother, when asked if the child had been injured in the incident, stated, '[The child] injured? Why, he wouldn't lie.'" Rhue, 693 So. 2d at 569.

may have been sound trial strategy." <u>Id</u>. at 568, citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689. Because the child victim's credibility was the pivotal issue in <u>Rhue</u>, trial counsel's performance was deemed deficient in failing to object to repeated testimony and multiple comments vouching for the child's credibility; and the Second District also concluded that there was "a reasonable probability that, but for trial counsel's omissions, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different." Rhue, 693 So. 2d at 570.

Dailey also relies, in part, on <u>Ruiz v. State</u>, 743 So. 2d 1, 10 (Fla. 1999), a case which recently was distinguished in another capital post-conviction case, <u>Miller v. State</u>, 926 So. 2d 1243 (Fla. 2006). In denying the IAC/prosecutor comment claim in Miller, this Court explained:

Miller relies on Ruiz v. State, 743 So. 2d 1, 10 1999), wherein this Court reversed the (Fla. defendant's convictions and remanded for a new trial instances multiple of based on prosecutorial misconduct. For example, one instance of misconduct occurred in Ruiz when the prosecutor "invoked the immense power, prestige, and resources of the State" by arguing, "What interest do we [prosecutors] as representatives of the citizens of this county have in convicting somebody other than the person--." Id. at This Court found that by making this argument, the 9. prosecutor was improperly implying, "If the defendant wasn't guilty, he wouldn't be here." Id. at 5. We conclude, however, that the prosecutor's statements in this case are not as egregious as what occurred in Ruiz, which included numerous instances of prosecutorial misconduct.

* * *

We find the claim here clearly distinguishable from <u>Ruiz</u>. Moreover, trial counsel did object to the State's attempt to imply that Miller would have committed a second homicide. [n4] Trial counsel also testified at the evidentiary hearing that the facts before the jury somewhat supported the State's statements and he preferred not to make more of the issue once his objections were overruled. Because of this evidence before the trial judge, we find no error by the trial judge in rejecting this claim.

Miller, 926 So. 2d at 1243

IAC/prosecutor's closing regarding the time of Shaw's phone call

Dailey now claims that the prosecutor misstated the evidence during closing argument (R V10/1272-1273), as to when Oza Shaw used the phone to call his ex-wife and girlfriend in Kansas. (Initial Brief at 58). This claim is procedurally barred. Dailey current objection to the prosecutor's closing argument was not raised at trial, was not raised on direct appeal, was not raised as an IAC/prosecutor comment claim in Dailey's post-conviction motion or amended motions to vacate and was not an IAC/prosecutor comment claim for which an evidentiary hearing was granted by the Circuit Court. Since Dailey's current IAC/prosecutor comment claim was not raised in the defendant's motion or amended motion to vacate, it is procedurally barred. See, Gordon v. State, 863 So. 2d 1215, 1219 (Fla. 2003), citing Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332,

338 (Fla. 1982).

Moreover, Dailey has not demonstrated any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>. In the same paragraph of the State's closing argument now cited by Dailey, the prosecutor continued,

. . . That leaves the four of them, Bailey, the Defendant, Pearcy and Shelly Boggio, going out to the bar. The come home from the bar and remember, they're only gone at that bar about an hour. Oza Shaw is on the phone about an hour. <u>The only conflict at all in their testimony is whether or not Oza Shaw was home first or Gayle was home first</u>. I don't think it's a conflict. (R 1273) (e.s.)

Thus, the direct appeal record reflects that the prosecutor was arguing that there was either no conflict, as raised by defense counsel in the initial closing argument, or that it was not important. (R V10/1273) Defense counsel's subsequent closing argument reasserted the facts as recalled by him. (R V10/1289-1290) Defense counsel did not object to the prosecutor's recollection of the testimony, nor was this claim raised on appeal as fundamental error. As noted in Caballero v. State, 851 So. 2d 655, 660 (Fla. 2003), "[e]rroneous comments [in closing argument] require reversal only where there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." Here, the record does not support even the speculation that the prosecutor's recollection affected the verdict. Furthermore,

the trial court reminded the jurors just before the closing argument that what the attorneys said in final arguments was not Defense counsel's initial evidence. (R V10/1227) closing reminded the jurors that what the attorneys said was not V10/1228, 1235-1236) evidence. (R The trial court's instructions to the jury after closing arguments included that they could look only to the evidence in considering whether the State had proven quilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (R V10/1307) Allegedly improper comments alluding to facts not in evidence may be cured by jury instruction. See, Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639 (Fla. 1982). The cumulative effect is not shown to have affected the outcome because the prosecutor's recollection was either arguably fairly supported on the record, or invited by defense counsel's own closing arguments, Walls v. State, 926 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 2006), or cured by the trial court's instructions to the jury instructions regarding the nonevidentiary nature of the attorneys' closing arguments.

Cumulative Effect Claim

At pages 60-63 of his initial brief, Dailey also asserts a "cumulative effect" argument, attempting to resurrect claims which were raised on direct appeal and deemed harmless error. These underlying sub-claims are procedurally barred in postconviction and may not be renewed as substantive claims under

the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. Assuming, arguendo, that the four additional instances alleged in Dailey's "cumulative effect" argument are properly before this Court, which the State does not concede and specifically disputes, Dailey still is not entitled to any relief for the following reasons.

Dailey's extradition-evidence claim was raised on direct appeal as an improper ruling of the trial court after defense objection and motion for mistrial. On direct appeal, this Court held that the trial court's ruling allowing the evidence was harmless error. Dailey I, 594 So. 2d at 256. Likewise, on direct appeal, this Court found the State's introduction of a knife sheath was harmless error. Id. at 256, n.2. Issues raised and ruled on in direct appeal are not proper for post-conviction relief. See Kimbrough v. State, 886 So. 2d 965, 983 (Fla. 2004) (concluding that to the extent the defendant seeks review of the substantive issue underlying his IAC claim, the claim is procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal).

Dailey also alleges instances of trial counsel's failure to object to allegedly improper comments in closing argument on the defendant's failure to testify. The comments were that only three people know what happened, the dead victim and the two

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